IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GERALDINE CREWS

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2006-CP856

LISA MAHAFFEY

FILED

APPELLEE

MAY 1 1 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GERALDINE A. CREWS PRO SE 107 SOUTH PARK DRIVE JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39211

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GERALDINE A. CREWS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO.2006-CP856

LISA MAHAFFEY

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the Court below, no evidence was presented or evidential to the liability of Defendant Mahaffey's rear-end collision whereas driving Suburban into Plaintiff, Geraldine Crews. Defendant admitted liability.

Damages were presented, and Dr's, medical bills, and expert testimony was presented by Plaintiff. Award was insufficient, not amount of bills, throughout Ever presented as to \$5000.00 The amounts exceed that amount

The jury found Defendant guilty. The Court allowed conflicting, and confusing instructions regarding negligence, and allowing Defendant's negligence instructions Refusal of instruction erred. Put in as Exhibit "B"

Because the jury failed the follow the Instruction of the Court, and testimony undisputed liability, and award an element of damages supported by record and recoverable where Defendant proximately caused Plaintiff;s injury, this Court should award a new trial on damages or, in the alternative, an Additur.

ARGUMENT

MOTION FOR ADDITUR OR FOR NEW TRIAL

COMES NOW, the Plaintiff(Appellant) Geraldine Crews, pro se respectfully moves the Court to enter an Additur or for a new trial for Plaintiff, assigning in support of this Motion the following grounds, to-wit:

1. The trial of this cause was held on January 17, 2006. The Jury Verdict of \$5000.00 for Geraldine Crews was confirmed by a Final Judgment filed on February 2, 2006. Mississippi Code Annotated Sections 11-1-55(Rev. 1991), grants the trial judge the authority to grant an Additur and provides: "the Supreme Court or any other court of record in a case in which money damages were awarded any overrule a motion for new trial or affirm on direct or cross appeal, upon condition of an additur or remittitur, if the court finds that the damages are excessive or inadequate for the reason that the jury or trier of the fact was influenced by bias, prejudice, or passion, or that the damages awarded were contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence." MCA 11-1-55. The Plaintiff moves the Court to enter an Additur increasing the amount of the Judgment by a reasonable sum to cover the damages proven by undisputed evidence at the trial of this cause.

2. Plaintiff's vehicle was struck from behind by Defendant in an automobile accident occurring on March 3, 2000. Liability in this accident is undisputed and Defendant produced no witnesses or evidence at trial to the contrary. In addition to the standard criteria used Additur cases, we point out that the error in limiting Plaintiff's jury instructions labeled P1 and allowing negligence instructions, as will be mentioned later, is such that the Jury was forced to ignore the law regarding the assessment of damages.

ADDITUR AS TO GERALDING CREWS

- 3. The standard for overwhelming weight of credible evidence is objective.

 It requires trial courts to apply this standard by reference to applicable law on recoverable damages in relation to the evidence before them.

 "Each case involving the issue of an Additur must "necessarily be decided on its own facts." Green v. Grant 641 So.2d 1203, 1208 (Miss. 1994).

 (quoting Leach v. Leach, 597 So.2d 1295, 1297 (Miss.1992) McClatchy Planting Co. v. Harris, 2001 WL 1106020 Miss. App., 2001.
- 4. The \$5000.00 verdict awarded to the Plaintiff, Geraldine Crews, is not only contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, but is so inadequate as to strike mankind at first blush as being unreasonable and outrageous as well as shocking the conscious.
- In the case of <u>Pham v. Welter</u>, 542 So.2d 884(Miss 1989), the Plaintiff had
 \$28,000 in special damages and the court entered an Additur of \$30,000

to the \$30,000 verdict thereby increasing the judgment by \$30,000. In the case of <u>James v Jackson</u>,514 So. 2d 1224 z9Miss. 1987), the jury verdict of \$1000.00 was increased to \$2000.00 with the Supreme Court ruling that it was a proper exercise of discretion considering testimony that the Plaintiff had pre-existing degenerative vertebrae condition, or osteoarthritis condition.

- 6. The question is whether or not the verdict was a reasonably adequate award and one of the criteria used by the court is whether or not the amount of the verdict evinces bias, prejudice, or passion or was contrary to the overwhelming weight of credible evidence.
- 7. Dealing further with the concept of "against the overwhelming weight of the evidence" we remind the Court that there were no witnesses offered by the Defendant whatsoever, to discredit any of the testimony, presented by the Plaintiff, regarding the occurrence of a rear-end collision on May 3, 2000, wherein Plaintiff's automobile was struck by Defendant.

 Therefore where there is no question of liability, leaving only the question of damages. Plaintiff provided the Court with composite exhibits including voluminous medical bills and records incurred by the Plaintiff which totaled \$41,941.27. Ms. Crews was involved in two subsequent automobile accidents on April 20, 2006, and September 28, 2001. She incurred \$8,511.67 in medical bills after the first automobile accident on May 3, 2000 and before the second accident on April 20, 2001. She incurred \$20,542.11 in medical bills after the second accident and before

the third accident on September 28,2001. she incurred \$12,837.49 in medical bills after the third accident. The monetary judgment of \$5000.00 awarded to the Plaintiff, Geraldine Crews, does not come close to compensating her for her medical bills incurred to date as well as future treatment and pain and suffering. This award does not even compensate Ms. Crews for her medical bills incurred after the first accident and before the second accident, which were incurred solely and irrefutably as a result of the accident of this case. Another case that is on point is Jack Gray Transp., Inc. v Taylor 725 So.2d 898 (Miss. 1998). In this case, the truck rear-ended the plaintiff's vehicle and the court awarded an additur of \$140,000 to the jury verdict of \$67,000 because of the overwhelming weight of the evidence which showed over \$42,000 in medical bills, loss of wages of more than \$82,000, which coupled with a life expectancy of 22.9 years would result in a future loss of income of\$297.000. In a day when litigation has become unaffordable for the average citizens, such as the Plaintiff herein, the Court should exercise its discretion and increase the Judgment to an amount which the Court feels would fairly and reasonably compensate the Plaintiff.

MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

8. In the event the Court fails to give an Additur as to the Plaintiff, the

Court should grant a new trial for damages based n the fact that the

small amount of the verdict resulted in a miscarriage of justice. Looking

to the criteria for granting a new trial, when all of the testimony has been

considered along with all arguments delivered, if, upon a completed view of the entire case, the trial judge is of the opinion that the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or clearly against the great preponderance, of the evidence, his duty is, upon a motion for a new trial to set aside the verdict and grant a new trial. Allstate Ins. V.

McGory, 697 So.2d 1171, 1172 (Miss.1997). In light of the undisputed, overwhelming weight of the evidence that there was a rear-end collision March 3, 2000, Mahaffey's, Suburban struck the Plaintiff, Crews we feel that there was error in failing to give to the jury for consideration, Plaintiff's jury instruction, labeled P-1 and allowing the Defendant's negligence instructions.

ERRONEOUS JURY INSTRUCITONS

9. The Plaintiff assigns as error the failure of the Court to give to the jury for consideration, the instruction attached hereto as Exhibit "A" and identified on the bottom of the page as "P-1" which is in the nature of a preemptory instruction for the Plaintiff using the language "..The Court instructs you to find for the Plaintiff, Geraldine Crews, and to assess her damages if any, in accordance with the law." Plainly and convincingly, this is an Instruction telling the Jury that they are instructed to find for the Plaintiff. As we feel that the evidence presented by both Plaintiff and Defendant would not allow the jury to find any other way than for the Plaintiff, we believe that the refusal of this instruction resulted in an

- error by the Court. Had said instruction been given to the jury, a more favorable decision for the Plaintiff may have been awarded.
- 10. The Plaintiff also assigns as error allowing the jury to consider

 Defendant's negligence instruction labeled D-5 and attached hereto as

 Exhibit "B" Allowing said instruction was only successful in confusing
 the jury. As the Defendant put on no substantial evidence that the

 Plaintiff was negligent in her actions on March 3, 2000, this instruction is
 improper and served no valuable purpose.
- 11. Because the jury failed to follow the instructions of the Court and award an element of damages supported by the record and recoverable where Defendant proximately caused Plaintifff's injury, this Court should award a new trial on damages or, in the alternative, an Additur.

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF, GERALDINE CREWS respectfully move the Court to enter Additurs as to Plaintiff, Crews. In the alternative, Plaintiff, move the Court for a new trial on damages alone with pretrial rulings as to the procedural matters set forth herein.

Respectfully submitted this 11th day of May, 2007.

GERALDINE CREWS, PRO SE

Skraldeno Crews

CONCLUSION

THE DEFENDANT, LISA MAHAFFEY, told the Court, and was found guilty of Liability and damages, negligence according to law for collision of which rear-ended Crews, March 3, 2000. There has been an injustice found due not allowing said medical bills related, with damages, and credible evidence related to March 3, 2000, unpaid by Defendant.

Trying to confuse, misconstrue, and default everything, the responsibility and liability was biased, and prejudiced Plaintiff. Defendant tried hard missing evidential facts, undisputed that incurred related to March 3, 2000. Even preyed on inevitable life's misfortunes.

The years the Defendant spent with continuance and avoidance only aids to show the extent of medical injuries, and damages as of today still.

After all is read and done, I pray the Honorable Court will see the facts, and to provide necessary justice for relief. It has been financially straining, along with obvious pain for all the injuries incurring of March 3, 2000.

Moving forward . respectfully thankful for attention in this matter. of importance.