IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

GERALDINE CREWS,

Appellant

versus

LISA MAHAFFEY,

Appellee

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Hinds County Mississippi, First Judicial District

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

PATRICK M. TATUM, ESQUIRE ASHLEY PRADEL, ESQUIRE

UPSHAW, WILLIAMS, BIGGERS, BECKHAM & RIDDICK, LLP 1025 Northpark Drive, Suite A Post Office Box 9147 Jackson, Mississippi 39286-9147 (601) 978-1996 Telephone (601) 978-1949 Facsimile

June 7, 2007

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

GERALDINE CREWS

APPELLANT

VS.

LISA MAHAFFEY

APPELLEE

CASE NO. 2006-CP-00856

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

The credible evidence presented at trial shows that Ms. Crews' testimony is greatly exaggerated. Danny Petty, an unbiased witness to the incident who does not know Ms. Crews or Ms. Mahaffey, stated at trial:

A. After she walked to the car the lady in the car started waiving her arms and flailing her head. My thought was maybe she was having an epileptic fit. It was kind of strange to me seeing what I just saw and **the lady sitting there and then all of a sudden she starts all these gyrations.** I thought that was kind of strange.

[Lines omitted]

A. [Lines omitted] So I drove on through the intersection and after I had driven probably two or three blocks down Old Canton Road, I'm thinking somebody is thinking about money

here, somebody is trying to rip somebody off.

So I turned around and came back and parked . . . [a]nd I walked up to where the cars were sitting and walked up to the white car. The window was rolled up and the sunroof was open and **the lady was still just doing these gyrations.**

[Tr. Transcr. vol. 4, 205:24-29; 206:11-22] When asked about Ms. Crews' actions on crossexamination, Danny Petty stated:

Q. Was she shaking, was she hysterical?

A. To me she was acting kind of crazy. That's the best way I can explain it.

Q. Was she acting?

A. It appeared to me she was trying for an Oscar.

Q. She was play-acting?

A. That's exactly what it appeared to me, sir.

[Tr. Transcr. vol. 4, 213:5-11]

Lisa Mahaffey's testimony as to Ms. Crews' actions was as follows:

Q. And tell me what happened when you walked up to Mrs. Crews' car.

A. I walked up to her car and she absolutely was hysterical, screaming and waiving her arms; why did you do this to me.

[Tr. Transcr. vol. 4, 220:4-8]

Ms. Crews' own husband, David Crews, testified on direct examination by counsel for Ms. Crews:

Q. What did you observe when you got there?

A. My wife sitting in the car by herself. I think there was a policeman there, someone taking pictures. Just, you know - - nobody with her. Just - - I don't know.

[Lines omitted]

Q. Nobody was - -

A. No one was around her. They were off to the side talking and laughing like it was a big put-on.

[Tr. Transcr. vol. 4, 181:4-29] Similar testimony was given by Bryan Cotten who confirmed that the ambulance personnel were laughing at Crews and her alleged injury. [Tr. Transcr. vol. 4, 167:4-28]

The testimony of four people, including Ms. Crews' own husband, was consistent. All of this testimony showed that Ms. Mahaffey, Bryan Cotten, Danny Petty, the policemen, and the ambulance personnel all felt that there was no way that Ms. Crews could be injured due to the minimal nature of the traffic incident. The impression of each of these persons was that Crews had to be exaggerating and just acting as if she was injured. Crews' version of the incident, however, was that the impact was so violent that her car saved her life and she was lucky to be alive. The incident was a fender-bender. The evidence presented at trial showed that Crews' version of this incident was a dramatic exaggeration, and the jury award of \$5000.00 in damages indicates that the jury found accordingly.

B. The evidence showed that the impact of the traffic incident was very minor.

At trial, Ms. Mahaffey presented evidence which showed that there was barely any impact in the traffic incident. Ms. Mahaffey's testimony as to how the accident occurred states:

A. Okay. We were stopped. There was a siren and Rebecca was in the back seat. She unbuckled her seatbelt, came to the front seat, got on the console and leaned across me and was watching the fire truck go by.

From that point, the fire truck passed and she got back on the console. I looked back to see if there was any oncoming traffic. It was clear so I released my brake and literally rolled into her.

Q. You said Rebecca was actually sitting on the console?

A. She was sitting on the console next to me. She did not hit her head on the dashboard, the windshield, or anything.

Q. Did she even fall forward after this impact?

A. No, I mean it was no impact.

Q. Did you hear a loud boom or bang?

A. No. Rebecca didn't even cry. A four-year-old, if I had hit someone hard, she would have cried.

Q. Did your daughter receive any injury in this accident?

A. No. [Lines omitted]

[Tr. Transcr. vol. 4, 218:9 - 219:1] According to Ms. Mahaffey's testimony, the impact of the traffic incident was so slight that her four year old daughter, who was sitting unrestrained on the center console of the vehicle, was not injured, startled or crying, or even thrown forward.

Danny Petty was an unbiased eyewitness to the traffic incident. Mr. Petty testified that he does not know Ms. Mahaffey or Ms. Crews personally, and that he did witness the incident as it occurred. [Tr. Transcr. vol. 4, 202:7-21] Mr. Petty's account of the incident states:

Q. Tell the jury what you saw as the fire truck came through the intersection.

A. Well, I saw the fire truck pass through the intersection and after the fire truck had cleared the intersection I glanced back at the light and it was still red and I glanced over to my left and I noticed a white SUV start to slowly roll forward and rolled into a white car that was stopped in front of it.

Q. And you said rolled. How fast do you think this white SUV was going when it made contact?

A. Well, when I looked up there was probably two or three feet difference between the cars and **maybe a half a mile an hour, if that's possible. It was just barely rolling.**

Q. Did you actually see the impact?

A. Well, I saw the car bump because **the car in front moved just a little bit. It was just barely perceptible** but you could see it move a little bit so I did see it roll into the other car. [Lines omitted]

Q. And you had your window down, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you hear this impact?

A. Did I hear the impact?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. It wasn't an impact. Like I said, the car just bumped the car in front so there was

nothing to hear.

[Lines omitted]

Q. I want you to again describe to the jury what you would consider the severity of this bump as you would characterize it.

A. Well, I've probably been bumped into harder in the line at the grocery store or at the movie [] as hard as those two vehicles bumped.

[Tr. Transcr. vol. 4, 204: 5-23; 205:3-10; 207:10-15]

Further evidence that supports how slight the impact was, is the fact that no one came to check on Ms. Crews to see if she was injured. The impact was so minimal that no one believed a person could have been injured in such an incident. Ms. Crews herself testified that no one came to check on her to see if she was injured. On direct examination, Ms. Crews stated:

A. [Lines omitted] So I just remained in the car and I just figured that someone would come to help me and - -

Q. Nobody thought you were hurt, did they?

A. Unh - uh (negative).

Q. They couldn't see any damage to the car.

A. (Witness nodded negatively).

Q. Nobody came to help you.

A. No.

Q. Did Ms. Mahaffey check on you?

A. No.

[Lines omitted]

A. [Lines omitted] And even when the policeman got there, he wouldn't even help. After he got there it took so long and he came to the side of the car and said something like, oh, are you hurt, or what happened here. And I said, "I was hit from the rear and I need some help." And he said, "Oh, you're hurt now?" And I said, "Yes, sir." But that was such a strange response that that kind of made me not want to sign his paper when I got in the ambulance because I didn't feel like I was getting help. [Lines omitted]

[Tr. Transer. vol. 3, 30:14-23; 36:17-25]

Danny Petty testified that Crews' husband did not seem concerned either. In his testimony Mr. Petty stated:

A. [Lines omitted] I saw her husband when I came back standing over on the grassy part between the cars. This was after I had spoken to her and spoken to the lady in the SUV. So I walked between the vehicles over to where he was standing and I didn't know who he was and I asked him if he witnessed the accident and he said, "No, that's my wife." And I said, "What's going on here?" And he said something to the effect that she wants an ambulance and I said, "Man I saw this happen and there's no way your wife is hurt."

And I thought that was kind of strange, too, because if it was my wife and I thought she was hurt, rather than letting her sit in a car by herself, I'd have been over there trying to comfort her and see what she needed but he was just standing up there and he just kind of shrugged when I said that.

[Tr. Transcr. vol. 4, 208:5-20]

The fact that there was no damage to the vehicles is also evidence indicating how slight the

impact was. Dr. Moses Jones testified in his deposition regarding the ambulance report taken at the scene of the incident:

Q. [Lines omitted] Does this record indicate the severity of the impact with my client

Lisa Mahaffey?

A. Well, there's a description, yes.

Q. What description is given, doctor?

A. [Lines omitted] The main thing was it says no visible damage noted to the car. It says that the patient states her head hit the windshield but no star burst noted on the windshield. So basically, to summarize this, from what I read here is there's no evidence of any vehicular damage.

[Deposition of Dr. Moses C. Jones 9:22-10:9 (January 18, 2005), attached as Exhibit "A"]

Danny Petty also testified to the fact that there was no damage to either vehicle as a result of the traffic incident. Counsel for Ms. Crews elicited the following testimony from Danny Petty on cross:

Q. What kind of work were you doing at the time of the wreck?

A. I was buying and wholesaling cars.

Q. Did you notice any damage to either car when you were there.

A. No fresh damage to either car. I looked at them both.

Q. Do you have some experience in that?

A. About 18 years buying and selling cars. At the time my livelihood depended on me being able to look at a vehicle and determine if there was damage to it and whether I could sell it and make money on it. Q. Did you do an inspection of both cars?

A. I looked at where the two cars bumped, a visual inspection, yeah.

Q. And there was no fresh damage? Is that your testimony?

A. No fresh damage. No skinned places where the paint was scratched or no broken glass. There would have had to have been some broken glass if there was any impact.A tail light would have had to have been broken I would have thought.

[Tr. Transcr. vol. 4, 209:10 - 210:210:2]

All of the evidence presented above shows that there was very minimal impact and little to no damage sustained in this minor traffic incident. An unbiased witness, Danny Petty, testified that he saw Mahaffey's vehicle "roll" into Crews' vehicle at a rate of about half a mile an hour. Lisa Mahaffey's testimony states that her four year old daughter was not thrown forward or even startled by the impact. No one, *not even the emergency personnel*, checked on Ms. Crews to see if she was hurt because the impact was so slight that no one believed that a person could be injured in such an incident. Ms. Crews' own testimony confirms this. Ms. Crews' own husband was not even attending to her, but was standing away on a grassy area just waiting for an ambulance to arrive. Further, both the ambulance report and the witness, Danny Petty, reported that there was no visible damage to either of the vehicles. All of this unbiased evidence contradicts Ms. Crews' contention that the impact was so violent that she is "lucky to be alive".

C. The evidence showed that Geraldine Crews had a pre-existing medical condition and that her alleged injuries were not a result of the subject traffic incident.

The deposition testimony of Dr. Moses Jones offered at trial showed that Ms. Crews had a pre-existing medical condition, and that it is unlikely that Crews' alleged injuries were a result of

the traffic incident with Ms. Mahaffey. Dr. Moses Jones was established as an expert in the field of neurosurgery. [Depo. Dr. Jones 8:3-6] In his deposition, Dr. Jones stated that "Ms. Crews primarily has degenerative disc disease ... and it seems like most of her problems are related to her degenerative disc disease." [Depo. Dr. Jones 9:9-15] Specifically referring to the tests and x-rays taken *just after the traffic incident*, Dr. Jones states:

Q. Dr. Jones, in laymen's terms, do any of these tests or x-rays that you've looked at show anything that's objectively wrong from an acute standpoint with the plaintiff?

A. At this point, no. All of these tests only show chronic processes that are obviously not an occurrence that just happened.

[Lines omitted]

Q. And doctor what were the findings of that MRI in March of 2000?

A. It was described as small disc protrusion at C-5,6 on the left of the small right paracentral disc protrusion at C6,7.

[Lines omitted]

Q. So in your opinion, doctor, these disc protrusions would have been present prior to the motor vehicle accident with my client?

A. Yes, because it all relates to the degenerative changes we've already described at C-5,6 and 6,7.

Q. And doctor, is that opinion based on a reasonable degree of medical certainty?

A. Yes.

[Depo. Dr. Jones 15:12-18; 16:17-21; 18:2-10]

Dr. Jones was then asked to offer an opinion regarding a radiology report based on x-rays

taken of Ms. Crews' cervical spine and left shoulder *in the year 1997*. [Depo. Dr. Jones 21:1-15] In his deposition, Dr. Jones states:

Q. And what were her complaints again at that time, doctor?

A. Well, I don't know, but according to this report it says neck and left shoulder pain.

Q. And what did they find from that x-ray, doctor?

A. Well, they found minimal narrowing of the intervertebral disc spaces at C5-6 and C6,7, and basically an unremarkable cervical spine.

Q. Doctor, if you compare this study to the x-rays taken in 2000, what does it tell you as far as how her neck was degenerating?

A. [Lines omitted]

But clearly both - - in all cases, even all the way back to '97 someone is commenting about something happening at C5.6 and C6.7, and that's not new.

I would suspect just - - and again, looking at the report, if this date and time is correct, if this is September 22, 1997 and this is 2314, this is almost 11:30 at night. I assume that she must have had some - - we don't routinely do x-rays at that hour of the night.

So if that's when it was done I would suspect that she was having some kind of problem in an emergency department or something that was done with neck and shoulder pain.

[Depo. Dr. Jones 21:19-22:23]

Dr. Jones' objective opinion was offered to a reasonable degree of medical certainty based on his evaluation of Ms. Crews' medical records provided to him. Dr. Jones stated that *the tests and x-rays performed immediately following the traffic incident showed nothing remarkable with Ms. Crews' condition, other than pre-existing degenerative disc disease* which is unrelated to the incident in question. [Depo. Dr. Jones 9:9-15; 15:12-18] Dr. Jones then evaluated medical records which showed that Crews was treated for neck and left shoulder pain three years prior to the traffic incident with Ms. Mahaffey, and stated that the records indicate that Crews was having neck and shoulder problems before the accident; that clearly this was not a "new" condition. *The radiology report regarding the 1997 x-rays showed problems at C5,6 and C6,7; the exact same area that was noted in the MRI report in 2000 which was taken just after the subject traffic incident.*

Ms. Crews testified that she had never had pain or problems with her neck or back prior to the traffic incident with Ms. Mahaffey [Tr. Transcr. vol. 3, 45:23-29], and that her alleged injuries are all the result of the subject traffic incident. On cross examination, counsel for Ms. Mahaffey presented Ms. Crews with the x-ray report from the year 1997 which showed x-rays taken of the cervical spine due to complaints of neck and left shoulder pain. Ms. Crews' testimony regarding this x-ray and prior neck pain stated:

Q. And you're telling this jury you never had any prior problems with your neck or your back before this accident?

A. Right. Severity like this, right.

Q. In 1997 you said that you were having chest problems and you thought it was your heart, correct?

A. Right. It wasn't chest. It was right there (indicating), right on the left side of my breastbone, right there where your heart is. You know, where your heart is; right there. [Lines omitted]

Q. Mrs. Crews, if you went to the doctor and told them that you thought your heart was hurting, why would they take x-rays of your neck? [Lines omitted]

A. I don't know that they x-rayed my neck. [Lines omitted]

Q. Well, earlier you said you did know cervical was neck, correct?

A. Well, now I do, yes.

Q. On this x-ray it says multiple views of cervical spine. Do you see that there?

A. Okay.

Q. And I want you to read indication for study. What does that say up at the top?

A. Neck and left shoulder pain.

Q. Why would they put neck and left shoulder pain if you did not have neck and shoulder pain back in 1997?

A. Well, I'm only telling you what I told her. [Lines omitted]

[Lines omitted]

Q. And you deny that you told them neck and shoulder pain?

A. Yes.

[Tr. Transcr. vol. 3, 87:10-25; 88:10-26; 89:23-25] Counsel for Ms. Mahaffey then presented Ms. Crews with a doctor report from the year 2000 which revealed complaints of low back pain in Crews' history. Ms. Crews' testimony regarding this report of prior low back pain stated:

Q. You also testified that prior to the accident you had never had any problems with your back.

A. Right.

Q. You did go see Dr. Lay, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you see where it says her past medical history is unremarkable? Do you see that part?

A. Right.

Q. Except for rare menstrual migraine, which is what you testified to. And it says, "and possible low back pain for which she vaguely recalls having had an EMG study." Did you tell Dr. Lay that you had low back pain as your history?

A. When I was probably about 25 at some point - - and I'm really digging back into this - there was maybe somebody that wanted to do some type of study with just a little lower back pain or something but no history of it, no chronic pain, no injury or anything that I can remember ever doing.

[Lines omitted]

Q. In your deposition I asked if you had prior problems with your back or neck and you told me no. I didn't ask the severity of them.

A. I can't be positive that I never had any lower back pain in my whole lifetime ever but not a history of anything in my life have I ever had a chronic situation and a severe injury to anything.

Q. But in 2000 when you saw Dr. Lay you remembered having low back pain before.

A. Right.

[Tr. Transcr. vol. 3, 89:27-90:15; 90:27-91:7]

Ms. Crews also testified that she hit her head on the windshield of her vehicle as a result of being hit from behind. Although the emergency room records indicate a contusion on Crews' forehead, there is no evidence which supports Ms. Crews' assertion that that contusion was sustained as a result of the minor traffic incident. The ambulance report said that there was no star burst noted on the windshield of her car. [Depo. Dr. Jones 10:8-11] Further, Dr. Jones', without any objection from Crews, gave this opinion regarding Ms. Crews' assertion that she hit her head on the windshield was as follows:

Q. All Right. Do you place any significance on her stating that she hit her head on the windshield, doctor?

A. Well, yes, in the sense that that would be an unusual mechanism of injury for someone struck from behind. What we call the kinematics of that just don't quite work.

If you're seated in a car all the models and studies of that kind of rear-end collision show that the forces drive you posteriorly and not anteriorly into the windshield; especially if you're restrained it would be very, very difficult in this degree impact where there's no visible damage to the car . . . in a vehicle impact that creates no damage, and that's based on the assumption that most vehicles have bumpers that will sustain crashes of 5 miles per hour or less, it would be hard for her to have much of an impact that would create no damage that would end up with her hitting the windshield from the rear.

[Depo. Dr. Jones 10:14-11:11]

The evidence presented at trial shows that Ms. Crews suffers from degenerative disc disease. The medical reports are consistent with findings of this chronic condition which occurs over time and is not the result of one specific incident. The tests and reports performed on Ms. Crews immediately following the motor vehicle incident showed nothing wrong with Ms. Crews, other than this degenerative disc disease and the contusion to her forehead. The evidence offered by Mahaffey indicated that even the contusion was not likely caused by the traffic incident. Further, when confronted with actual medical records indicating that Crews had had previous pain and medical problems with her neck and back, Crews continued to deny any prior issues and maintained that all of her medical treatment was solely the result of this traffic incident with Ms. Mahaffey.

Ms. Crews' appeal brief states that "Plaintiff provided the Court with composite exhibits including voluminous medical bills and records incurred by the Plaintiff which totaled \$41,941.27." [Brief of Appellant 13] However, Ms. Crew has not presented evidence which shows that any of these medical records or bills are the result of the motor vehicle incident between Ms. Mahaffey and Ms. Crews. In fact, Ms. Crews was involved in two other motor vehicle accidents after the March 3, 2000 accident involving Ms. Mahaffey. About five or six weeks after the March 3rd accident involving Ms. Mahaffey, Crews was involved in a motor vehicle accident on April 20, 2000, which totaled her vehicle. [Tr. Transcr. vol. 3, 52-15-25] Ms. Crews had another accident on September 28, 2001. [Tr. Transcr. vol. 3, 72:20-29] Three separate motor vehicle accidents within a time period of 17 months, however, Ms. Crews asserts that all of her damages are the result of the traffic incident with Ms. Mahaffey. As the Mississippi Supreme Court noted in Patterson, supra, although the plaintiffs had presented evidence of damages and although it was established that the defendants were negligent, the jury found that the evidence did not show that plaintiffs' damages were the proximate result of the defendants' negligence. Patterson v. Liberty Associates, L.P., 910 So. 2d 1014, 1019 (Miss. 2004).

II. Trial court did not err in denying Geraldine Crews' Motion for New Trial based on allegations of erroneous jury instructions.

Ms. Crews asserts that the trial judge should have granted her Motion for New Trial because the trial court erred in refusing to give Plaintiff's peremptory instruction, P-1, to the jury. Plaintiff's jury instruction P-1, states that "[t]he Court instructs you to find for the Plaintiff, Geraldine Crews, and to assess her damages, if any, in accordance with the other instructions of the Court." [Jury Instruction No.1, attached as Exhibit "B"] Ms. Crews contends that "[h]ad said instruction been given to the jury, a more favorable decision for the Plaintiff may have been awarded." [Brief of Appellant 16] Jury instruction P-1 simply instructs the jury to find for the Plaintiff on the issue of liability. It is an instruction which takes the issue of whether Ms. Mahaffey is to be found liable out of the hands of the jury, and instructs that Ms. Mahaffey is to be found liable. The jury did not get Plaintiff's instruction P-1, however the jury returned a verdict finding that Ms. Mahaffey was liable. As the jury found in favor of Ms. Crews on the issue of liability, there is no way that the jury could have returned a more favorable decision in this regard. Any error on the part of the trial court in failing to give Plaintiff's instruction P-1 to the jury, was harmless error. Accordingly, this is not grounds for error entitling Ms. Crews to a new trial.

Further, the trial judge's decision not to grant Plaintiff's peremptory instruction and to allow the jury to decide the issue of liability in this case was within his discretion and sufficiently based on evidence presented at trial. Danny Petty, an unbiased eyewitness to the incident testified that he believed that the accident was staged based on the very slight impact between the two vehicles which he witnessed and Crews' dramatic and exaggerated response to such minor contact between the vehicles. A trial judge's determination as to whether a jury issue has been presented must be given great respect (*Patterson v. Liberty Associates, L.P.*, 910 So. 2d 1014, 1020 (Miss. 2004)), and taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the Defendant, the trial judge acted within his discretion in allowing the issue to go to the jury (*See Jones v. State*, 912 So.2d 501, 505 (Miss. App. 2005); trial judges enjoy considerable discretion regarding jury instructions).

Ms. Crews also claims that Defendant's jury instruction D-5 given to the jury was confusing to the jury, and that it was error on the part of the trial court to allow this instruction to be considered by the jury. [Brief of Appellant 16] Defendant's jury instruction D-5 gives the jury the definition of the word negligence. [Jury Instruction No.5, attached as Exhibit "C"] Plaintiff's counsel did not object to jury instruction D-5 when counsel was conferring with the court on which instructions to give to the jury [Tr. Transcr. vol. 4, 240:23-29], therefore, Ms. Crews is not allowed to now assert that instruction D-5 was confusing to the jury. The right to challenge said jury instruction was waived when the issue was not raised at trial. *See Sumrall v. State*, 2006 WL 1390452 (Miss. App.) (waived for appellate review where jury instruction was accepted without objection).

In *Hillier v. Minas*, the court stated "[i]t is well established under Mississippi law that we do not review jury instructions in isolation; rather, the instructions are read as a whole to determine if the jury was properly instructed. Where it may be fairly charged that one or more instructions may have been confusingly worded, we should not reverse if other instructions clear up the confusing points. *Hillier v. Minas*, 757 So.2d 1034, 1039 (Miss. App. 2000). Although as stated above, the issue was waived as instruction D-5 was not objected to during the trial proceedings, even if the instruction had been confusing to the jury, when read in context with all other instructions given the jury was properly instructed. Ms. Crews has no basis for requesting a new trial on the issue of erroneous jury instructions, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying her motion regarding same.

CONCLUSION

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